
                   1  05/21/13 City Council 

 

CITY OF VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 

MAY 21, 2013  6:00 P.M.    

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 

CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

A. Roll Call 

 

Mayor Craig Fletcher, present; Vice Mayor Tracy Carroll, present; Councilmember Pilar 

Turner, present; Councilmember Jay Kramer, present and Councilmember Richard 

Winger, present Also Present: James O’Connor, City Manager; Wayne Coment, City 

Attorney, and Sherri Philo, Deputy City Clerk 

 

B. Invocation –  Pastor Earl Morgan/First Christian Church 

 

Pastor David Morgan of First Christian Church gave the invocation.  

 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Mayor Fletcher led the City Council and the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance to the 

flag. 

 

2.         PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A. Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption 

 

Mayor Fletcher pulled item 2C-1) off of the agenda at Mr. Croom’s request.  He then 

added under City Manager’s Matters, item 7-B) - May 28, 2013 FMPA Meeting and item 

7-C) - Old Diesel Power Plant Lease.   

 

Ms. Sherri Philo, Deputy City Clerk, requested that a Proclamation recognizing Memorial 

Day be added under Proclamations.   

 

Mr. Wayne Coment, City Attorney, requested that item 7-A) be moved up and heard after 

the consent agenda.   

 

Ms. Philo pulled item 2B-2), Joe McManus to present a U.S. Medal of Valor to 

Lifeguards.  She reported that this would be on the next City Council meeting agenda.     

 

Mrs. Turner made a motion to adopt the agenda as amended.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the 

motion and it passed unanimously. 

 

B. Proclamations 

 

1. National Foster Care Month – May 2013 



                   2  05/21/13 City Council 

 

2. Memorial Day – May 27, 2013 

 

Mayor Fletcher read and presented the Proclamations. 

 

3. Joe McManus to present a U.S. Medal of Valor to Lifeguards 

 

This item was pulled from tonight’s agenda. 

 

4. Florida Inland Navigation to present a check to the City of Vero Beach for 

the MacWilliams Boat Ramp Reconstruction 

 

Mr. Paul Dritenbas, Florida Inland Navigation District Commissioner, presented the City 

with a check in the amount of $158,027.50 reimbursing the City for the reconstruction of 

the MacWilliams Park boat ramp.   

 

Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, noted that Mr. Don Dexter did an outstanding job 

overseeing this project.   

 

C. Public Comment 

 

None 

 

1. Mr. David Croom to give an update on the Old Diesel Plant. 

 

This item was removed from tonight’s agenda. 

 

D. Adoption of Consent Agenda 

 

1. Regular City Council Minutes – May 7, 2013  

2. License Agreement #2013-LA-0211 – John E. Dyer – Dock and 

Boatlift – 17 Dolphin Drive 

3. License Agreement #2013-LA-0213 – David & Diana Peterson – 

Boatlift & Pilings – 31 Royal Palm Pointe 

4. Monthly Capital Projects’ Status Reports 

5. Fuel Contract – Como Oil Company of Florida 

6. Termination of Janitorial Contract and Award of New Contract to 

JMC Services 

7. Utility Easement #2012-EG-0127/AutoZone Stores, Inc. – 755 15
th

 

Place 

 

Mrs. Turner pulled item 2D-6) off of the consent agenda. 

 

Mrs. Carroll made a motion to adopt the consent agenda as amended. Mr. Kramer 

seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 

 



                   3  05/21/13 City Council 

 

6. Termination of Janitorial Contract and Award of New Contract to 

JMC Services 

 

Mrs. Turner said that staff’s recommendation was for the high bidder of the three bids 

listed in their backup analysis.  She appreciates that there have been problems with their 

current service, however in looking at the high bid for one year she did not see any 

analysis of the three year comparison.  

 

Mr. O’Connor explained that staff looked at service issues as much as the cost.  This was 

actually the third low bidder and the reason staff is recommending them is because they 

come with a very good background in providing service to public buildings.  Another 

reason is that they have the County facilities under contract and therefore, have 

supervisors on site that the City would have access to.  He reported that it is going to cost 

the City about $15,000.00 more each year, but felt that it more than makes up for itself in 

the work that will be done. 

 

Mrs. Turner asked in looking at the additional cost, has staff reviewed the extent of 

janitorial services. 

 

Mr. O’Connor reported that staff reduced the scope of janitorial services going into this 

fiscal year substantially by reducing dusting to once a week, vacuuming to once a week, 

etc.   

 

Mrs. Carroll asked what modifications to the contract would occur when the sale of the 

electrical system goes through and janitorial services are no longer necessary at many of 

the City facilities. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that will reduce the City’s cost because it is based on the facilities that 

they provide service to.  He explained that any building that is taken out of service can be 

removed from their service contract. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said there was a time period of eight months with unacceptable service.  She 

asked Mr. O’Connor if he felt that length of time of unacceptable service was appropriate 

or should this decision have come up sooner. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that they should not have waited eight months.  He said that staff met 

with them several times and service would improve for a little bit.  The main problem 

was that their supervision was on the West Coast of Florida. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked is it possible to put into the contracts going forward that there is a 

benefit to having local supervision or a local office to alleviate this type of problem. 

 

Mr. O’Connor answered yes.   

 

Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Coment according to the law, can the City give local options 

priority. 



                   4  05/21/13 City Council 

 

 

Mr. Coment answered yes. 

 

Mrs. Turner asked what is the cause for the escalation for three years of the other bidders.  

She wanted to know if the increases quoted were reasonable or in line with the others.   

 

Mr. John O’Brien, Purchasing Manager, said the proposal has a 2.75% increase because 

of a minimum wage increase and the Obama Health Care.  He noted that they did receive 

more than three bids, but wanted to show Council the lowest bid and the two that were 

closest to it.  He reported that the other bids were all higher.     

 

Mrs. Turner said having that information in their backup would have been helpful. 

 

Mrs. Carroll made a motion to award the contract to JNC Services and to terminate the 

existing janitorial service.  Mayor Fletcher seconded the motion and it passed 4-1 with 

Mrs. Turner voting no. 

 

7-A)  Legal Services for General Employee Retirement and Employee Benefits 

 

Mr. Coment reported that Mr. Glenn Thomas and his partner Mr. Jim Lynn, of Lewis, 

Longman and Walker were highly recommended to him throughout the legal community 

that he deals with.  He said that this service would also involve collective bargaining.  

The Committee of the City realized that they are going to need guidance in reporting, tax 

issues, etc., and would also need assistance with moving to a Defined Contribution Plan.    

The Committee voted unanimously to recommend this firm to the City Council. 

 

Mr. Glenn Thomas, of Lewis, Longman and Walker, 315 South Calhoun Street, 

Tallahassee, Florida, introduced himself to Council. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Thomas if they have a local office. 

 

Mr. Thomas said that they have offices in West Palm Beach, Jacksonville, and Tampa. 

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Mr. Thomas to discuss the scope of work that they would be doing 

for the City. 

 

Mr. Thomas reported that the firm represents between 70 and 80 cities throughout 

Florida.  His partner has been doing this for about 25 years and he has been doing it for 

about 12 years.  One thing that they do is assist with the daily running of the plans, as far 

as keeping them in compliance with State and Federal law.  More recently they have been 

engaged by several cities to help them in reducing plan contributions.  The bulk of their 

business over the last five years has been in assisting, along with Labor Counsel, in 

getting the pension reform passed. 

 

Mrs. Turner noticed in their experience that they have been setting up other post 

employee benefit trusts for some municipalities, which she felt was a great way to try to 



                   5  05/21/13 City Council 

 

handle that liability.  In the information provided it only showed Palm Bay where they 

worked on a defined contribution plan.  She asked is that the only city that they have 

worked with to implement this.   

 

Mr. Thomas said that they are seeing more of this mostly in the general employees plan.  

They have seen a freezing of the defined benefit plan, a reduction in benefits, and then 

having a hybrid plan.  Over the past five years they have assisted four or five cities 

moving to the defined contribution plan for general employees.   

 

Mr. O’Connor reported that the City’s Pension Committee held about four meetings since 

they were established.  They fall under the Sunshine Law and so if Council approves this 

they would be working with the firm in making decisions for the existing employees’ 

pension plan.  They also recommend that they also use this firm as they negotiate the 

transition of their pension plans.   

 

Mr. Coment reported that the services this Firm provides would be paid for out of the 

Retirement Fund.  As far as services for changing plans and negotiations, that would be 

paid for out of the General Fund.     

 

Mr. Winger asked is there a number in mind as to how much this would cost.   

 

Mr. O’Connor answered no.  He explained that it would depend on how long negotiations 

go.  He said that they did discuss using the firm by telephone rather than face to face 

contact.  The firm has a good track record of being able to reduce the number of hours for 

their service.   

 

Mr. Winger asked would the City have to pay them for travel when they do have to be 

here. 

 

Mr. Thomas said that he would never charge their hourly rate for travel. 

 

Mr. Winger asked what would they charge. 

 

Mr. Thomas said that if it was five hours from Tallahassee to Vero Beach, he would not 

bill the City ten (10) hours for travel.   He said that he would charge about half of what he 

would normally charge for work.  Most of the time he would try to take care of business 

for other clients when he is traveling in which case he would not charge the City at all.  

He said that many times his travel is divided between three clients at a lower rate.   

 

Mr. Winger felt that they need the numbers.   

 

Mayor Fletcher would like to see the numbers put into the contract.  

 

Mr. Thomas said they could put it in the engagement letter. 

 



                   6  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mr. Coment suggested that Mr. Thomas modify the engagement letter to indicate a 

reduced rate for travel.    

 

Mr. Winger asked if Council approves this tonight, when would they start. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that the Pension Committee would start using the firm right away.   

 

Mr. Winger felt they should have an initial budget authorization tonight.  He asked what 

would they ask for as far as the initial funding.   

 

Mr. Coment said that there were two different subjects.  He said that for the Committee, 

they would want the firm to review the City’s plan, make recommendations as to what 

needs updating to make sure they do proper reporting, etc.   

 

Mr. Thomas did not think that reviewing the City’s pension plan would take a lot of time.   

 

Mayor Fletcher said that they don’t have the bones of a plan for a Defined Contribution 

Plan.   

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Mr. Thomas if he had a time span. 

 

Mr. Thomas said it would depend on how the collective bargaining goes.  When they talk 

about making a significant change to a pension plan it could take a long time to 

implement.  He said that it could take over a year as there could be litigation involved, 

etc. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that they can bring back to Council a proposed budget. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said that there were three firms that bid on the project.  She wondered if 

there were any firms on the Treasure Coast. 

 

Mr. Coment said they sent an invitation to every local Bar member and did not receive 

any response. 

 

Mrs. Turner said this is very specialized and complicated legal area. 

 

Mrs. Carroll wanted the public to know that the City made an effort to locate providers of 

this service in our area and none were available.      

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Mr. O’Connor what action would he like from Council tonight. 

 

Mr. O’Connor asked that they defer action tonight and they will bring back a proposed 

budget. 

 

 



                   7  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mrs. Turner felt that they should give a consensus of the Council that they need this.  She 

said that it would be helpful for Council to have some kind of stop point costs for 

budgeting points. 

 

Mr. O’Connor asked Council to take a vote to engage the firm and they would bring back 

to Council a contract and a budget. 

 

Mr. Winger made a motion to engage the firm and for Mr. O’Connor to bring back a 

budgetary number.  Mrs. Turner seconded the motion. 

 

Mr. Coment said that staff would also bring back to Council modified Engagement 

Letters with the travel expense issue. 

 

Mr. Kramer assumed that they would be bringing back a plan to do a Defined 

Contribution.  He asked would they also do a high level overview to see what other ideas 

and benefits there are. 

 

Mr. Thomas said one of the things they have done in conjunction with collective 

bargaining is they have utilized the Executive Session and they will do a complete Power 

Point presentation that examines the numbers, what the current situation is, etc.  They 

would offer in detail every possible avenue open to the City and whether that would 

result in short or long term savings.  With the help of an Actuary they can spread that 

over many years so that they know what the savings for each option would be 25 years 

down the road, as well as five years down the road.  

 

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

3.        PUBLIC HEARINGS      
 

A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, abandoning the west 5 feet 

of Lot 8, Block 1, Edgewood Addition; together with the west 5 feet of the 

east 90 feet of the west 200 feet of the south 140 feet of Block 48, Map of the 

Town of Indian River (Original Town); retaining an alley; Providing for 

Conflict and Severability; Providing for an Effective Date. – Requested by 

the Public Work’s Department 

 

Mayor Fletcher read the Ordinance by title only. 

 

Mayor Fletcher opened and closed the public hearing at 6:45 p.m., with no one wishing to 

be heard.   

 

Mrs. Turner made a motion to approve the Ordinance.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the motion 

and it passed 5-0 with Mr. Winger voting yes, Mr. Kramer yes, Mrs. Turner yes, Mrs. 

Carroll yes, and Mayor Fletcher yes. 

 

4.        RESOLUTIONS FOR ADOPTION WITHOUT PUBLIC HEARING   



                   8  05/21/13 City Council 

 

 

A) A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, 

accepting the 2013 Apportionment Plan of the Indian River County 

Metropolitan Planning Organization; Providing for an Effective Date. – 

Requested by Indian River County Metropolitan Planning Organization 

 

Mayor Fletcher read the Resolution by title only. 

 

Mrs. Turner was glad that the City retained their two seats on the Metropolitan Planning 

Organization despite our loss in residents. 

 

Mr. Winger made a motion to adopt the Resolution.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the motion 

and it passed 5-0 with Mr. Winger voting yes, Mr. Kramer yes, Mrs. Turner yes, Mrs. 

Carroll yes, and Mayor Fletcher yes. 

 

5.       FIRST READINGS BY TITLE FOR ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS    

          THAT REQUIRE A FUTURE PUBLIC HEARING 

 

None 

 

6.       CITY CLERK’S MATTERS       

 

None 

 

7.       CITY MANAGER’S MATTERS 

 

A) Legal Services for General Employee Retirement and Employee Benefits 
 

This item was heard earlier in tonight’s meeting. 

 

B)  May 28, 2013 FMPA Meeting   

 

Mr. O’Connor said the City’s legal counsel, OUC, and FPL will be attending the FMPA 

meeting on May 28, 2013.  If the City Council chooses they can have a representative of 

the Council sit in on the meeting.  The problem is this is not an advertised meeting and 

therefore they cannot have more than one Councilmember attend.  He explained that if 

they do have a Councilmember representing them, they are prohibited by law to 

participate in the discussion or answer/pose any questions.   

 

Mr. Coment said that staff discussed this with Mrs. Pat Gleason, of the Attorney 

General’s Office, and she recommended that no elected official should attend.  That they 

let staff handle it and report back to Council and if someone on Council was to attend that 

they go just as fact finding to report back to Council.   

 

Mrs. Carroll asked who would be attending to negotiate on behalf of the City. 

 



                   9  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that he and Mr. Coment would be representing the City.  The 

Transactional Attorneys will also be attending.  He said the participation would depend 

on which element of the contract they are talking about. 

 

Mrs. Carroll recommended that Mrs. Turner attend as Council’s representative.  She has 

been their representative in the past.  

 

Mrs. Turner said that she would be glad to attend. 

 

Mayor Fletcher also would like Mrs. Turner to attend as she has “tribal” knowledge on 

what has been going on for the past year.   

 

Mr. Kramer felt that Council should think about this.  If they really want to know they 

could get a recording.  He felt that if they inject a Councilmember into this process it 

might get sticky. 

 

Mrs. Turner said that a recording of the meeting is not going to be allowed.  

 

Mr. Coment explained that this is not a public meeting.  It is negotiations behind closed 

doors.  That is the issue with having an elected official there to begin with.  This meeting 

is not open to the public.   

 

Mr. Kramer said the problem with that is they have four parties coming together.  The 

City is obviously just looking at this from the Vero Beach side.  It was his understanding 

from the FMPA side is that any member of the FMPA can sit in on these negotiations.  

 

Mr. O’Connor said that if their Board members attend then they have to advertise it as a 

public meeting because they are also under the Sunshine Law.  This has not been 

advertised as a public meeting. 

 

Mayor Fletcher expected that if Mr. Coment sees people going into the meeting from 

other municipalities that he would make sure they understand.   

 

Mrs. Carroll said based on the description given on the Sunshine, no other 

Councilmember should attend the meeting.   

 

Mr. Coment said that is correct.   

 

Mayor Fletcher made a motion that Mrs. Turner attend the May 28, 2013 FMPA meeting.  

Mrs. Carroll seconded the motion and passed 3-2, with Mr. Winger and Mr. Kramer 

voting no. 

 

C)  Diesel Power Plant Agreement/Contract 

 

The City Council took a break at 6:53 p.m. and reconvened at 7:00 p.m.   

 



                   10  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mayor Fletcher said that he spoke with Mr. Croom and what he got out of the 

conversation is that he wants out of the contract.  Mayor Fletcher said that there has not 

been any payments made since the contract was signed, which he thought was in 2005.  

He said there were a few things they could do.  They could hold his feet to the fire and 

file a lawsuit or they could renegotiate the contract.  He was not sure if filing a lawsuit 

was the way to go because the best solution to him would be that the City would end up 

with the property.  Mr. Croom told him that he was unable to get a bank loan because the 

City did not have Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) clearance on the site because 

the wells were still contaminated.  The City now has the wells cleared and has filed for 

EPA clearance.   

 

Mrs. Turner said the City received EPA clearance on April 3, 2013 and the contract was 

executed in 2005.  

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Council where they wanted to go with this. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said that Mayor Fletcher started out stating that if they held Mr. Croom’s 

feet to the fire and he didn’t pay, what would happen is the City would get the building 

and the property back.  The City has that now.  Mr. Croom currently owes over $65,000 

in rent to the City.  She said that she and Mr. O’Connor met with Mr. Croom and she 

personally found him unable to prove the fact that the monitoring of the wells on the 

property did in any way stop him from developing the property as per his lease.  She said 

they discussed the fact that the improvements, according to the lease, were not 

completed.  She said that she met with potential leasees of the property who stated that 

they were told specifically that in order to take over the site and develop it into a 

commercial project that they would have to put in parking themselves, which was part of 

the original lease.  She said that she was not convinced that there were any plans to fulfill 

his requirements of the project. 

 

Mr. Winger felt that something useful could be done with the building over time.  He said 

that it would be a great enhancement to the downtown.  He felt that should be their first 

consideration.  Council needs to open up all doors.  The reality is that the City doesn’t 

want the building.  Right now the City has a good deal because we don’t have 

responsibility for maintenance and utilities.  He felt the building is a white elephant no 

matter what we do with it.  He said that they could open this up for the City Manager to 

negotiate, but the City needs to open up all the doors.  The City could declare the land 

surplus and sell the property to Mr. Croom for the value of the land.  He doesn’t want to 

get into what the building is worth because Mr. Croom has put money into it.  He said 

that he could see the building used for a restaurant or as an extension of the Art District.  

He felt that it would be a wonderful art place, which is what Mr. Croom had originally 

planned.     

 

Mrs. Turner said that the City is not in position to be a land developer.  It is not their 

expertise and it is not what they should be doing. 

 

Mr. Winger said the City needs to look forward and not backwards. 



                   11  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Mr. Winger if he indicated that they should let bygones be bygones 

and indicating and not worry about the $65,000 owed to the City. 

 

Mr. Winger answered no.  He said with the idea of selling the property, there are plusses 

and minuses. The City should let the City Manager negotiate.  The City could have the 

property appraised, forgetting the building, taking into account the $65,000 owed.   

 

Mayor Fletcher wanted Council to give direction to the City Manager on what they want 

to happen. 

 

Mr. Kramer said that they need to be careful because the building is half developed and if 

they take action then obviously no development is going to happen.  If they end up 

winning a lawsuit they will have a building that is half developed and would end up in 

the development business and at a risk to put money into it in order to make it 

marketable.    The market is depressed and right now no matter what they do they are not 

going to win.  Somewhere along the line they have to open this up to all the solutions to 

make sure they get out of this without spending money. 

 

Mr. George Paxton, Grey Twig Road, reported that he was Vice Chair of the Cultural 

Council and on the Board of Directors.  He said that the Cultural Council has had an 

interest in promoting the build-out of this building as a major art center.  They conceived 

it as something like the Torpedo Factory in Old Town Alexandria, where there would be 

art studios, galleries, and working artists.  He said that they drew out plans showing a two 

story building with an open atrium on the lower level with a place for 20 – 25 artists, 

studios, galleries, etc.   The top floor would have the artists and the lower level having 

galleries and possibly a restaurant.  They spoke with Mr. Croom several times and he did 

tell them that he wanted to get his investment back.  Mr. Paxton did not see any way that 

could work.  He said that this could not work if Mr. Croom is bought out for anything 

close to the money that he put into it.  The building is currently about 7,500 square feet 

with no floor, no utilities, no plumbing, etc.  If someone was to try to buy it for what Mr. 

Croom has in it, it would cost about $225 a square foot.  He said that this could work if 

Mr. Croom walked away from it and then the City leased it for a dollar a year to a 501C-

3, which would build a major art center.  The advantage to Mr. Croom would be that he is 

out of the lease.  He felt that if this was developed in the way they want, it could be a 

major art center, it would be a major benefit to the downtown area, and it could put Vero 

Beach on the map as a go to cultural center.     

 

Mrs. Carroll asked based on lease, what is Mr. Croom required to do.  She said that he 

was required to rehabilitate the property, bring it up to historical guidelines, etc. 

 

Mr. Coment said that is correct. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked how far he was supposed to continue in the rehabilitation.  She asked 

was he supposed to take it all the way to the point where the landscaping was in, the 

parking was done, the floors were in, the electric was in, etc.  She asked what did it 

stipulated his requirements were. 



                   12  05/21/13 City Council 

 

 

Mrs. Turner said that Mr. Croom did mention to her that he didn’t proceed with those 

types of improvements because he wanted to be able to tailor it to a tenants use.  She said 

that the real estate crashed and there weren’t any tenants knocking on his door. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said the original game plan was that Mr. Croom was to rehabilitate the 

property, at some point during rehabilitation of the property sign a lease for a tenant, find 

out what modifications the tenant wanted, and then continue building it out, leasing back 

to them to turn a profit.  She said that at some point because Mr. Croom didn’t have a 

tenant waiting he made the business decision to stop and somewhere around then the 

lease went into effect.   

 

Mr. Coment clarified that Mr. Croom took position and the lease started before he did 

any work. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked what communications took place between the City and his company 

as far as his rent being due and his not paying it for five years.  

 

Mr. Coment did not know. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said the City has a person on staff whose responsibility is to make sure these 

leases are paid and nothing was paid. 

 

Mr. O’Connor thought that a lot of that discussion was held in the City Manager’s office 

and a decision was made that there was no way that the City was going to collect rent 

with a vacant building.  He was not sure if anyone pursued this. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said in the City Manager’s office, they made the decision that they were not 

going to make Mr. Croom pay rent.  That they would be quiet, let it go and hopefully 

they would get a tenant in and the City would eventually get rent. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that it was his understanding that there were a couple contacts made 

and they all acknowledged that rent was due, but no one made an effort to file against the 

rent. 

 

Mrs. Carroll said that this never came before Council. 

 

Mr. O’Connor answered not that he was aware of.  He said that when he first came on 

board this issue came up and they started looking into it.  He said the best case, as the 

Mayor said, is that the City would end up with a half finished building.  He said that he 

couldn’t find a win in the process. 

 

Mayor Fletcher said that Mr. Croom took this lease agreement knowing full well that the 

contamination issue was not completed.  There is no room for him to argue that he 

couldn’t do something because of contamination. 

 



                   13  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mrs. Turner said that the City sent him a letter stating that the well monitors should be 

completed in two years and the City received the well being cleared in 2013.  She asked 

Council if they would agree to ask Mr. O’Connor to meet with Mr. Croom.  She did not 

want to see the City in the land development business.  She would like to see them 

continue to dispose of excess property that the City has.  She said to convert this into a 

tax generating facility would be fantastic.    

 

Mr. Kramer agreed.  He said it is Council’s place to facilitate a solution, not dictate a 

solution. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked if the City took the property back tomorrow, what would be the 

maintenance cost.  

 

Mr. O’Connor said mowing of the grass was minimal.  The question would be that the 

City would have a building that would be crumbling.  

 

Mrs. Carroll said that building is on the National Register of Historical structures.  She 

asked aren’t they required to keep it up.   

 

Mr. O’Connor thought that there were buildings that were on the National Register that 

have been neglected.  

 

Mayor Fletcher said from what he is hearing, Council would like the City Manager to 

start negotiations with Mr. Croom.  He said that he did not want to get into a lawsuit.   

 

Mr. Winger asked Mr. Paxton if the building became an art center, where would the 

funding come from? 

 

Mr. Paxton said that they would have to find someone who had an interest in this to 

contribute money.  He said that they looked into this a little bit, but have not pursued it.   

 

Mr. O’Connor said if it is Council’s wish he would meet with Mr. Croom and try to make 

this work for both sides. 

 

Other City Manager Matters 

 

Mr. Winger asked Mr. O’Connor what is going on with the boarding house issue.   

 

Mr. O’Connor reported that this would be going before the Planning and Zoning Board 

within the next 30 days. 

 

Mr. Winger felt that it would be good for the City if there was some way to develop the 

northern portion of the land where the Magnet School was to add to Three Avenues and 

Miracle Mile.  Also, if there was a way of having a water retention pond in the Southern 

part of the property it would do three wonderful things.  He said that area floods and it is 

going to flood as long as there is not a pond there.  Another thing it would do is the drain 



                   14  05/21/13 City Council 

 

off could run into the pond rather than into the Lagoon.  He thought that this could be 

possible.    

 

Mr. Winger thought that the comments on electric rates were misstated in the Press. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said only in the headlines.  He said that it did state in the article that they 

were not recommending a rate increase at this time.  He said that they would be looking 

at the margin in fuel cost compared to the City’s charges in June or July.   

 

Mr. Winger said that he would want to have some conversations before they raised their 

utility rates.  It this is brought forward it would take a lot to convince him on an increase. 

 

Mr. Kramer asked Mr. O’Connor if he has to do any adjustments to utility rates that he 

asks Council. 

` 

Mr. O’Connor answered yes. 

 

8.       CITY ATTORNEY’S MATTERS 
 

None 

 

9.       CITY COUNCIL MATTERS 

 

A. Old Business 

 

None 

 

B. New Business 

 

None 

 

10. INDIVIDUAL COUNCILMEMBERS’ MATTERS 

 

A. Mayor Craig Fletcher’s Matters 

1. Correspondence 

2. Committee Reports 

3. Comments 

 

Mayor Fletcher reported that he attended the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council 

meeting and there was another presentation on Seven 50 and he was shocked by what 

was said.  He said that the man presenting made statements such as, cities are less 

important, counties are less important, only mega regions are important, they are not 

going to put up with the American education system, fascism is the best form of 

government to implement these changes, we shouldn’t have any more of these meetings, 

just pass this thing and be done with it, etc.  Mayor Fletcher said it was a good thing that 

the City withdrew from this.  They made the right decision. 



                   15  05/21/13 City Council 

 

 

B. Vice Mayor Tracy Carroll’s Matters 

1. Correspondence 

2. Committee Reports 

3. Comments 

 

Mrs. Carroll reported that she attended an All Aboard Florida meeting, which is the new 

rail system that is planned to go through Vero Beach and Sebastian.  She said there were 

concerns that came out of this meeting.  They plan to have 32 trains coming through our 

community every day starting at 7:00 a.m. until 8:00 p.m.  These trains would be running 

each half hour in each direction and would be going about 110 mph with not having any 

stops.  She said that they would be blowing their whistle at each intersection beginning at 

6:00 a.m. until about 10:00 p.m.  Unless some infrastructure is paid for by the City or the 

County in order to make that intersection meet standards not to blow their whistle.  She 

asked them why doesn’t All Aboard Florida help cities and counties pay for the upgrades 

and she was told that they own the railroad.  She said that they are rapidly moving 

forward on this concept.  Mrs. Carroll reported that she and Mr. O’Connor attended a 

Playing to Win in Economic Development with local governments from Martin County, 

Indian River County, St. Lucie County, and Okeechobee County.  They met with 

individuals throughout economic development.  She said that the Indian River County 

Chamber of Commerce, Martin County Chamber of Commerce, and Okeechobee County 

Chamber of Commerce participated in this meeting.  She reported that the numbers 

coming out of the State of Florida is that the unemployment is going down, businesses 

are building back into the State of Florida, and they need to be ready.  She reported that 

she met with Mr. O’Connor and other individuals throughout the economic development 

area of the County in terms of the Airport.  She said that they are starting to look at the 

lease initiatives within the Enterprise Zone and within the Airport making modifications 

to bring them more in line with what businesses need to come into the Enterprise Zone.  

She said that they would be putting together a Task Force to bring this into the downtown 

area as well.  She said that the Tree and Beautification Commission will be handing out 

Live Oak Tree seedlings to students at Beachland Elementary School on May 22, 2013 

and Rosewood Magnet School on May 20, 2013.  The Oceanside Business Association 

will continue holding the Farmer’s Market throughout the summer on Saturdays from 

9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. and Mainstreet Downtown Friday will be held on May 31, 2013.    

 

C. Councilmember Pilar Turner’s Matters 

1. Correspondence 

2. Committee Reports 

3. Comments 

 

Mrs. Turner reported that Council received a brochure in the mail from Mrs. Judy Orcutt, 

“Be a Lifesaver for Indian River Lagoon.” She felt that Mrs. Orcutt did an excellent job 

in trying to educate everyone. Mrs. Turner said that she spoke to staff about putting this 

brochure in the utility bills, which would cost about $3,000.  Mrs. Turner asked Council 

to consider this. 

 



                   16  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked if FIND or another non-profit organization for the Lagoon would have 

some funding to assist with this. 

 

Mr. O’Connor said that normally FIND is for capital improvement projects. 

 

Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Winger with his involvement with the Marine Industry if he knew 

of any contacts. 

 

Mr. Winger did not know.  He felt that this was worth doing.  He thought that Mrs. Orcutt 

was going to present at the next City Council meeting.  He supported Mrs. Turner. 

 

Mr. Kramer asked if they were talking about the City paying this expense.  He said that 

they discussed this before with the United Way and it went into the issue if they do it for 

one they would have to do it for another.  He did not have a problem doing this, but he 

would like the organization to pay for it.  He just didn’t want to get into the problem of 

saying yes and no to different organizations. 

 

Mrs. Turner understood that, but this was for education.  She said that they passed a 

Fertilizer Ordinance and this is really the next step in trying to educate the public.  To her 

that is a City function to help educate the public and hopefully reduce the pollution and 

the cost to the City in cleaning it up. 

 

Mayor Fletcher said that this is a great idea, but he agreed with Mr. Kramer in that he 

didn’t want to start setting precedence.  He would oppose this.   

 

Mr. Kramer said if this is an educational thing and doesn’t promote an organization then 

they should bring this back. 

 

Mrs. Turner said it is strictly educational and is not promoting any particular 

organization. 

 

Mr. Winger thought that Mrs. Orcutt planned to attend the next City Council meeting.  

 

Mayor Fletcher asked Mr. Winger to call her. 

 

Mrs. Turner said that if she is not going to attend then they put this on the agenda under 

her items. 

 

Mrs. Turner reported that she attended the FMPA Board meeting Thursday and they 

completed the refunding of the Stanton 2002 bonds, which she did not have the cost 

savings with her, but it was significant.  She said that they did extend the financing of the 

Stanton projects out to 2038 and 2042.  She reported that she attended the Red Cross 

Hurricane Party and thanked Sun Aviation for allowing non-profit events in their 

facilities.  She attended Pioneer Day honoring the Kennedy family, and the Law 

Enforcement service honoring their fallen Officers.  She reported that the Memorial Day 



                   17  05/21/13 City Council 

 

Ceremony will be held on Veterans Memorial Island Sanctuary at 9:00 a.m.  She urged 

everyone to attend and help recognize the heroes who gave the ultimate sacrifice. 

 

D. Councilmember Jay Kramer’s Matters 

1. Correspondence 

2. Committee Reports 

3. Comments 

 

Mr. Kramer reported that he attended a Main Street Vero Beach meeting.  He said that 

they have a new Executive Director so they will be starting back on their projects.  He 

attended an Economic Development meeting where they discussed Enterprise Zones.  He 

thanked the Vero Beach Police Department noting that crime decreased by 14.1%, which 

was the highest decrease in Indian River County.   

 

E. Councilmember Dick Winger’s Matters 

1. Correspondence 

2. Committee Reports 

3. Comments 

 

Mr. Winger also attended the All Aboard Florida meeting and one plus on this is that they 

will be double tracked, which would make it easier for AMTRAK.  Other than that he 

agreed with Mrs. Carroll’s statements.  He attended a Beach and Shores meeting and they 

succeeded in getting $4.8 million dollars for damage from Hurricane Sandy if they match 

it.  He reported that he attended the ceremony for fallen Officers and the Youth Sailing 

Group would be holding their second annual Regatta on June 2, 2013.   

 

11.        ADJOURNMENT 

 

Tonight’s meeting adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 

 

/sp 


